

The Spires
Behaviour
Support
Policy&
Procedure

'Five Rivers is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and expects all staff and volunteers to share this commitment'

Policy Owner	Louise Bethel Headteacher
Authoriser	Head of Education
Date of Original Issue	11.5.20
Date of Next Review	11.9.21
Version	V2

© Five Rivers Child Care Limited [18/09/2019], All Rights Reserved. The content of this policy is protected by the copyright laws of England and Wales and by international laws and conventions. No content from this policy may be copied, reproduced or revised without the prior written consent of Five Rivers Child Care Limited. Copies of content may be saved and/or printed for use in relation to the business and affairs of the Company only.

Contents

1.	Behaviour Support 2	
1.1	Policy Statement	2
1.2	Terms and Definitions	4
1.3	Data Protection	4
1.4	Disclosure of Information	4
2.	Understanding Children's Behaviour	4
3.	Encouraging Appropriate Behaviour	6
4.	Use of Rewards	6
5.	Responding to Behaviours of Concern	7
6. Wi	thdrawal	8
7. Us	e of Consequences	8
	7.8 Consequences used MUST:	9
	7.9 Permitted Consequences are:	9
	7.10 Regulations:	10
8. Use of Physical Intervention		11
	8.1 The Last Resort Principle	11
	8.2 Proactive Approaches	11
	8.2.1 Primary Prevention	11
	8.3.1 Secondary Prevention	11
	8.4 Proactive Physical Interventions	11
	8.5 Reasonable and Proportionate	12
	8.6 Unreasonable use of Force	12
	8.7 Individual Behaviour Support Plans	12
	8.9 Responding to Unforeseen Emergencies	13
	8.9.17 The principles of +Proactive Approaches are as follows:	14
	8.10 Planned and Unplanned Interventions	16
	8.11 Monitoring of the Child following the use of restrictive physical intervention	17
9. Re	striction of Liberty and Deprivation of Liberty	18
10. R	ecording	18
11. M	11. Managers Monitoring	

1. Behaviour Support Education Policy

1.1 Policy Statement

- 1.1.1 This policy aims to establish a clear statement of understanding and intent in relation to positive behaviour support with a focus on child centred service provision within an education setting.
- 1.1.2 Our school utilises attachment and trauma informed behaviour support principles with the intention of providing the children with reliable, attuned, trusted adults, who will support them in improving the quality of the learning experience children within our school, as well as reducing behaviours of concern. "We expect adults to be skilled and confident in finding the best ways to keep children safe; ways that promote their rights, respect their dignity and help equip them for the future" ("Environments where children can flourish" Ofsted, 2018).
- 1.1.3 This policy outlines what we expect from all student, staff and visitors in terms of their behaviour. It extends to all members of our community and is written in line with current legislation, guidance and best practice principles. Positive behaviour and self discipline have strong links to effective learning and are vital for children to carry with them both during and after their school years.
- 1.1.4 Five Rivers aims to provide non-aversive, least restrictive behaviour support strategies at all times. Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) is an evidence-based practice model, and Five Rivers agrees to follow this model and implement PBS practices to support all children.
- 1.1.5 Five Rivers commits to providing safe workplace support. This is in order to ensure teaching staff in order to offer the highest quality of services to children, including adequate training and support in positive behaviour support.
- 1.1.6 When children are cared for and educated, in well-managed, emotionally attuned and responsive environments that have clear expectations of its learners, with a sense of purpose and direction, and by trusted adults who are aware of what is expected of them and understand the needs of the students they are supporting, behaviours of concern are less likely to happen. However, there will be occasions when the students face challenges within their learning (social or academic) when children's distress results in actions that challenge boundaries, including putting their safety or the safety of others at risk. Staff are trained to respond by taking appropriate measures to keep everyone safe, to encourage self-control and positive behaviour, and to safeguard the welfare of the Student. This includes the use of restrictive physical interventions when necessary and as a last resort.
- 1.1.7 It is important that students are treated with understanding, dignity, kindness and respect and that staff build and protect positive and attuned relationships with children. This will enable them to pre-empt stressful situations and distress through appropriate planning and differentiation, where trauma responses can be triggered, providing scaffolding and emotional co-regulation allowing the best chance of self-management and maximise learning opportunities.
- 1.1.8 ProActive Approaches meets the criteria set out in the Government guidance issued in June 2019 "Reducing the Need for Restraint and Restrictive intervention".

1.1.9 This includes:

- Training that is tailored to take account of the needs of the children being taught and/or cared
 for and the role and specific tasks that staff will be undertaking.
- Programmes which promote the need to meet children's individual learning and social needs and promotes positive relationships and behaviour for learning.
- Is trauma and attachment Informed and therefore promotes understanding of student's
 needs, learning styles and the causes of behaviour, anticipating situations that may cause
 distress and taking steps to address them, assessing, managing and reducing risk, thereby
 reducing the likelihood of restraint.
- Informed by the law and relevant guidance and directs clear governance and accountability arrangements for supporting students whose behaviour challenges and for any use of restraint, including arrangements for working across settings and services.
- Promotes the Involvement of the student and their parents/carers as appropriate in decisions
 relating to behaviour and use of restraint, and in discussing restrictive interventions and their
 impact, including through the development of behaviour support plans.
- Uses an evidence-based approach (positive Behaviour Support (PBS) and trauma and attachment informed) to promoting positive behaviour and supporting individual children whose behaviour challenges and places their opportunities for learning at risk.
- Have clear guidance for training and developing teaching staff, including training in
 understanding students whose behaviour challenges, developing the skills to respond to their
 needs, development of appropriate lesson planning and differentiation to maximise learning
 outcomes and understanding when expert help is required.
- Promotes a system for continually improving assessment and management of risk.
- Promotes a system for recording and reporting incidents which enables students who have been restrained to express their feelings about their experience as soon as is practicable, to add their views and comments to the record of restraint and offers them the opportunity to reattune.
- Strongly recommends a system in place for reviewing how restraint is used in individual cases
 and patterns or trends in its use to inform changes in approach and provide additional learning
 support where necessary.
- Promotes the recognition of the impact of the learning environment on individuals and advises
 the critical review of the environment and practices, better to support students and the
 reduction of restraint in line with best practice.

- Training includes formal assessment of physical techniques the staff have been trained in. It is
 clear that they should only use restraint techniques for which they have received training and
 have demonstrated competence.
- Training meets the quality standards for training providers delivering training with a restrictive
 intervention component as set out by The Restraint Reduction Network (RRN) a charity and
 subsidiary of BILD and Health Education England.

1.2 Terms and Definitions

1.2.1 The below table sets out a number of terms and definitions used within this document:

Term	Definition
DfE	Department of Education
DoH	Department of Health

1.3 Data Protection

- 1.3.1 Five Rivers Child Care supports the objectives of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 and other legislation relating to Data Processing, including the Human Rights Act 1998, Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Five Rivers Child Care has a statutory obligation to process personal data in accordance with the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018.
- 1.3.2 Every member of Five Rivers Child Care Including education settings has an obligation to ensure that the information they process (use) is collected, maintained and disclosed in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Five Rivers Child Care Data Protection Policy.

1.4 Disclosure of Information

1.4.1 Any use or disclosure of information held within Five Rivers Child Care including education setting, without there being a legitimate purpose or legal basis will be classed as unauthorised and is a criminal offence under Section 55 of the Act Right of Access (Subject Access Requests).

2. Understanding Children's Behaviour

2.1 Many of the students looked after by Five Rivers and accessing its education settings have experienced childhood trauma and a lack of sensitive and responsive caregiving and education. As a result, they are likely to find the forming and sustaining of relationships with education staff very challenging. This low self-perception may have been re-enforced from the initial separation and loss from their birth family and subsequent breakdowns of home and school placements. These early life experiences are likely to lead to feelings of rejection, shame, failure and

Commented [1]: Will need to amend as appropriate

inadequacy which are likely to be reflected in their expressed behaviours, particularly when faced with new learning situations.

- 2.2 Research has shown that children who have warm, affectionate relationships with parents or carers have higher self-esteem. This, in turn provides them with the confidence to attempt new things without a great fear of failure. Conversely, a child with low self-esteem finds it difficult to try new activities or concepts. They will seek to protect what little self-esteem they have and continue to behave in a manner consistent with their low view of themselves. If a child feels rejected and views themselves as unacceptable and valueless, they will not regard disapproval as a reaction to their behaviour, but as a rejection of him or herself.
- 2.3 In understanding and responding to Student's behaviour, staff should be mindful of the following:
 - If a student has poor self-esteem and thinks negatively about themselves, there will be fewer constraints on their behaviour within the classroom. A student may believe that teaching staff expect them to behave badly, and they in turn will care little whether staff value them because they do not value themselves. An improved sense of self can reduce inappropriate behaviour and improve access to learning. When a student thinks more highly of themselves, then old patterns of behaviour may become incompatible with their improved view of self. When a student starts to really believe that they have value then change can occur and they are more able to engage with their learning.
 - If a Student has poor self-esteem and is reluctant to face the possibility of failure, then they
 will avoid situations which might expose them to further failure e.g. trying something new or
 trying a known activity but in a different way. Improved self-esteem will give a student the
 security to try and learn something new. They may not succeed but they are secure enough
 not to feel a failure.
- 2.4 A student with low self-esteem needs support, encouragement and protection. Some strategies that teaching staff might use are:
 - Effective planning and differentiation.
 - · Remove the threat of failure, 'Don't worry if you find this difficult'
 - Take some of the blame for failure, 'I'm sorry I should have explained that better'.
 - Offer help early and whilst the student is still on task. Intervene before they have started to struggle or fail.
- 2.5 Non-verbal interactions are a very powerful part of a teacher's repertoire. A pat on the back, a 'thumbs up', or a smile can convey to a student that you have recognised them as an individual and that you are taking an interest in them.
- 2.6 In talking with students about unacceptable behaviour, it is important that the discussion allows them to maintain self-respect so that self-esteem can be improved.
 - When we ask questions, do we give them a genuine chance to answer? (this includes taking into account time needed for processing)

- Do we listen to their point of view?
- Do we check that the student really understands what has been discussed and the implications that may stem from that discussion?

Have the teacher and the student:

- Agreed on a definition of the problem, the issue may not be a problem for the student;
- Agreed a strategy to alleviate, or address, the problem;
- Arranged to meet again to review the situation and to see if the strategy has worked?

3. Encouraging Appropriate Behaviour for Learning

- 3.1 Students are less likely to behave unsafely if they are educated in a supportive environment where a sense of direction and purpose is maintained, and where their rights are promoted and protected.
- 3.2 In the day to day running of the classroom, students should be encouraged to behave safely by frequent expressions of approval from staff, and the use of positive reinforcements and rewards rather than the extensive imposition of consequences. Consequences can be used to promote learning and development, and students should be supported to understand their intent.
- Positive reinforcement means that, rather than simply telling the student that their behaviour is not safe, they must be informed why this is so and constructively give suggestions as to what the acceptable responses to that situation might be and, again, why those responses are appropriate. Where a student displays positive behaviour, that behaviour is noticed and acknowledged by a 'reward', which can take the form of anything from a smile, to praise, to material gain the principle of positive reinforcement being that behaviours which are rewarded with something the student views of value will be repeated and adopted over time as the student's own responses.
- 3.4 Role modelling means staff demonstrating 'safe & appropriate' behaviour in their own day to day practice, for example through the use of courteous respectful language, and dealing with frustrations and disappointments in socially acceptable ways.
- 3.5 Students should be given opportunities to discuss their behaviour and its implications, for example in tutor/circle time, and with teachers to identify strategies for expressing their feelings in more constructive and appropriate ways. Using PSHE lessons are a useful tool to consider behaviour, particularly the impact that behaviour can have on others. The ability to look at issues via a third person allows critical thinking to develop without feeling criticised.
- 3.6 Guidance from the Department for Education in "Behaviour and Discipline in schools" 2016 gives traditional models of sanctions and consequences. it states:

"When poor behaviour is identified, sanctions should be implemented consistently and fairly in line with the behaviour policy. Good schools will have a range of disciplinary measures clearly communicated to school staff, pupils and parents. These can include:

• A verbal reprimand.

- Extra work or repeating unsatisfactory work until it meets the required standard.
- Loss of privileges for instance the loss of a prized responsibility or not being able to participate in a non-uniform day (sometimes referred to as 'mufti' days).
- · Missing break time.
- School based community service or imposition of a task such as picking up litter or weeding school grounds; tidying a classroom; helping clear up the hall after meal times; or removing graffiti.
- In more extreme cases schools may use temporary or permanent exclusion."

What is key within Five Rivers is that any behaviour is addressed in line with the principles of PBS. This requires a consequence which is not a simple punishment to waste time (i.e. missing break, writing lines) but provides the student with a genuine learning opportunity. This only occurs when teachers understand the function of the behaviour and work to maintain attuned relationships. What is important is that the consequences for behaviour are consistently applied. This will occur when the whole school community shares the values that the school aspires to.

Use of Rewards

- 4.1 The Spires has its own system of rewards that fall within the values identified within the whole school behaviour policy; this will outline the incentives used to promote positive behaviour and will ensure that there is a clear and transparent process of how rewards are used. This is designed to ensure that all students are treated equally and eliminates the space for collusion and potential private practice. The kinds of rewards will be regularly reviewed and updated in discussion with students and the whole school staff team.
- 4.2 The type of reward, the circumstances in which it is given, and its frequency/level will vary depending on the age, needs and behaviour of the individual student. It is important that class teams develop a collective understanding and practice about giving rewards, both for their class, the subjects they teach and in relation to individual students. Without this consistency, students are likely to receive inconsistent messages and opportunities for them to understand and improve their behaviour will be reduced. As well as planned rewards, where students may work towards a reward to support a specific goal, unplanned rewards are essential, particularly for those students with a history of trauma and abuse. These children will find it difficult to work toward a planned reward without self-sabotage. The skill of staff will be seeking opportunities for rewarding these students before they have that chance.

Pupils make choices about behaviour which then has consequences. All positive behaviours will be rewarded and promoted, negative behaviours will receive a consequence. The consistent application of consequences will support a 'no surprises' outcome for learners. Rewards will be reviewed regularly to ensure they are valued and relevant to pupils. Our rewards include:

- Verbal praise
- Cool Points Rewards System / Star Cards
- Certificates at the end of the week
- Phone calls home
- Letters or praise postcards
- Personalised responsibilities/privileges
- 1:1 time
- Reward trips
- Putting work on display in classrooms and offices

Points Reward System

We reward and incentivise good behaviour on a daily basis through our Cool Points reward system. We set parameters for good behaviours in and out of the school environment, completion of set work and tasks and outstanding achievement. When parameters are met and/or exceeded points are awarded which translate to rewards.

Each pupil has their points recorded each lesson. These are reviewed at the end of the day with a discussion with their keyworker or Tutor about achievements or why they did not meet expectations.

Each pupil has 4 personalised targets which they will be scored during each lesson. For example:

- Presentation and Uniform: Arrive to school wearing the correct school uniform (1 point)
- 2. **Effort**: Try your best within each lesson throughout the day (1 point)
- Behaviour for learning: Produce excellent work in each lesson (1
 Point)
- 4. Excellence: Going above and beyond the expected (*2 points)

The pupils have 5 lessons a day therefore they can receive up to a maximum of 25 points. Each 25 points equates to £1 for a reward that the pupils has chosen to work towards. Points are discussed in daily tutor time and reflection takes place on the choices made. The effort made and points gained also allow the pupil to work towards a half termly reward or activity.

On a Friday afternoon, the whole school takes part in celebration assembly where the highlights and success of the week will be celebrated with all the team.

- 4.3 It is also important that staff understand that rewards only form part of the wider culture of positive behaviour support within the whole school. Where staff understand and support the students with the challenges they face, there is a predictable environment set to reduce triggers, where positive, pro-social behaviour is encouraged.
 - 4.4 As we have already established, this is achieved by a culture:
 - that promotes open communication and respect
 - of unconditional positive regard & love for all students
 - where adults provide appropriate scaffolding to students in line with their individual behaviour support plans

5. Responding to Behaviours of Concern

5.1 As with techniques to support positive behaviour, it is important in responding to behaviours of concern that teaching staff identify 'what works' with individual students and develop 'whole team approaches' so that students receive a consistent message and that the work of one group of staff is not inadvertently undermined by the actions of others. Teaching Assistants who remain

- with the students all day through transitions to a range of subjects, form a key role in ensuring consistency is maintained.
- 5.2 Each student will have an up to date individualised education plan which includes an IBSP (Individual Behaviour Support Plan) that sets out what works and what doesn't. This document is informed by discussion with the student, as well as informed knowledge of the student.
 - 5.3 The principles of responding to behaviours of concern include:
 - Set and maintain clear boundaries; Do not avoid the issue and do not delay; Work together;
 Be; truthful, consistent and reliable;
 - Make time to listen, talk and take a real interest in the student; Take the student seriously;
 - Encourage and reward positive behaviour; Involve students in decision making; Communicate clearly;
 - Explain what is wrong and the impact on the student/others; Always know where your colleagues and students are;
 - Think and plan ahead;
 - Do not say "yes" when you mean "maybe". Do not say "maybe" when you mean "no"; Do not make promises you cannot keep;
 - Anger is not the same as aggression, and aggression is not the same as violence; Do not abdicate your responsibilities to the students;
 - Do not save face at the expense of the student; 'Drop the Rope' Back down gracefully and apologise when necessary; Humour defuses; making fun frustrates;
 - Body language, volume and tone of voice can give important clues to what you want; Be calm, be assertive, be confident;
 - Be aware and acknowledge your own feelings.

6. Withdrawal

- 6.1 It may be appropriate on occasions to support the withdrawal of a student from the classroom for a short period of time. This must not be done as a punishment but rather because there is a risk to their safety or the safety of others. There must always be a staff member to support and reassure them, and this should be only used after consideration of the student's attachment difficulties.
- 6.2 Encouraging a student to withdraw can be an effective means of decreasing negative behaviours that are beginning to escalate. By Encouraging a student to remove or distance themselves from a situation they are struggling to cope with will allow time and space to prevent further triggering. In this circumstance, a specific room (e.g. a quiet room or smaller sensory room) or a quiet area within the school. If a student requires the use of 'Withdrawal', this can only be used

where there is no restriction of liberty and identify on their IBSP their most favoured 'bolt hole'. Whatever space they choose, this should not feel like spending time in this place is a 'punishment'. It is a positive strategy to support the student in learning to more effectively regulate their emotions.

7. Use of Consequences

- 7.1 Teaching Staff understand that punishment and consequences are different. Punishment is a solely punitive measure and does not provide an opportunity for reparation of learning.
- 7.2 Helping them to understand the natural consequences of behaviour and manage the feelings of guilt or shame they will experience will provide a longer lasting lesson.
- 7.3 Consequences used to address unsafe behaviour should be restorative in nature, to help students recognise the impact of their behaviour on themselves, their classmates, the staff supporting them and the wider school community.
- 7.4 If a consequence is used, it must be appropriate to the age and understanding of the student and the circumstances. It must be administered as quickly as possible. It must be relevant to the undesirable behaviour (a learning opportunity) and, above all, it must be fair and achievable. There is no point in making decisions which cannot be carried out.
- 7.5 Within the school, we adhere to the principles reflected within The DfE guide to the Quality Standards sets out that:

'Any consequences used to address poor behaviour should be restorative in nature, to help children recognise the impact of their behaviour on themselves, other children, the staff caring for them and the wider community. In some cases, it will be important for children to make reparation in some form to anyone hurt by their behaviour and the staff in the home should be skilled to support the child to understand this and carry it out. Equally, staff should understand the system for rewarding and celebrating positive behaviour and recognising where children have managed situations well'.

- 7.6 Consequences must never be used that degrade or humiliate a student or deprive them of any of their basic rights as a human being, such as withholding food, clothing, shelter, warmth or the company of other human beings. The use of force to gain compliance, mental or physical, is not permitted under any circumstances.
- 7.7 Any measure taken to respond to unacceptable behaviour should be fairly and consistently applied appropriate to the age, understanding and individual needs of the student, and take into account that certain behaviours may be the result of illness, bullying, certain disabilities such as autism, or communication difficulties.

7.8 Consequences used MUST:

- Must happen as soon as is practicably possible.
- Must be relevant and proportionate.
- Be fair and not prolonged.

- Time limited.
- Be discussed with and understood by the student.
- Not include the deprivation of food.
- Not include any form of a student being placed in isolation.

7.9 Permitted Consequences are:

- Reparation Helping towards the cost of repair or performing a task that makes amends.
- Restitution Repairing or replacing.
- · Loss of privileges.
- Loss of extra curricula activities or free/choosing time
- Targeted tutor sessions or PSHE sessions provide opportunities for learning e.g.
 Educational work before being permitted to travel in the car.

7.10 Regulations:

- 7.11 To ensure consistency for the students accessing education from Five Rivers residential services. The school follows the principles of The Children's Homes (England) Regulations 2015. It indicates the following disciplinary measures are PROHIBITED BY LAW:
- 7.12 No measure of control or discipline which is excessive, unreasonable or contrary to paragraph (2) may be used in relation to any child.
- 7.13 The following measures may $\underline{\textbf{NOT}}$ be used to discipline any child:
 - a. any form of corporal punishment;
 - b. any punishment involving the consumption or deprivation of food or drink;
 - c. any restriction, other than one imposed by a court or in accordance with regulation 22 (contact and access to communications), on:
 - i. a child's contact with parents, relatives or friends;
 - ii. visits to the child by the child's parents, relatives or friends;
 - a child's communications with any persons listed in regulation 22(1) (contact and access to communications); or
 - v. a child's access to any internet-based or telephone helpline providing counselling for
 - v. the use or withholding of medication, or medical or dental treatment;
 - vi. the intentional deprivation of sleep;

Commented [2]: Or five rivers equivalent

- vii. imposing a financial penalty, other than a requirement for the payment of a reasonable sum (which may be by instalments) by way of reparation;
- viii. any intimate physical examination;
- ix. withholding any aids or equipment needed by a disabled child;
- x. any measure involving a child imposing any measure against another child; or
- xi. Any measure involving punishing a group of children for the behaviour of an individual

7.14 Nothing in this regulation prohibits:

- the taking of any action by, or in accordance with the instructions of, a registered medical
 practitioner or a registered dental practitioner which is necessary to protect the health
 of the child; or
- Taking any action that is necessary to prevent injury to any person or serious damage to property.

8. Use of Physical Intervention

This policy has been written using advice taken from Use of Reasonable Force, Advice for Headteachers, staff and Governing Bodies DfE 2013

The school acknowledges its legal duty to make reasonable adjustments for disabled children and children with special educational needs (SEND). Equality Act 2010, SEN and Disability Code of Practice 0-25 years 2015.

The school fully recognises the responsibility it has under section 175 of the Education Act 2002 to have arrangements in place to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. This includes having a duty of care to our students. This duty of care may lead to a time where it is necessary to use 'reasonable force' to protect the student or others from harm.

Who can use reasonable force?

- Section 93, Education and Inspections Act 2006 states All members of school staff have a legal power to use reasonable force.
- This power applies to any member of staff at the school. It can also apply to people whom the headteacher has temporarily put in charge of students such as unpaid volunteers or parents accompanying students on a school organised visit. Within Five Rivers we would always promote that this action is taken by those trained to do so. But recognises emergency situations can occur and not being in receipt of training, should not prevent an adult acting in protecting a student from harm as long as this action follows the principles of best interest decision making.

When can reasonable force be used?

- Reasonable force can be used to prevent pupils from hurting themselves or others, from damaging property, or from causing disorder.
- In a school, force is used for two main purposes to control students or to restrain them.
- The decision on whether or not to physically intervene is down to the professional judgement of the staff member concerned and should always depend on the individual circumstances. This should also

always follow the principles and values contained within this policy and be in line with the students IBSP.

The following list is not exhaustive but provides some examples of situations where reasonable force can and cannot be used.

Schools cannot:

• use force as a punishment – it is always unlawful to use force as a punishment.

Schools can use reasonable force to:

- remove disruptive children from the classroom where they have refused to follow an instruction to do so:
- prevent a pupil behaving in a way that disrupts a school event or a school trip or visit;
- prevent a pupil leaving the classroom where allowing the pupil to leave would risk their safety or lead
 to behaviour that disrupts the behaviour of others;
- prevent a pupil from attacking a member of staff or another pupil, or to stop a fight in the playground;
- restrain a pupil at risk of harming themselves through physical outbursts.

In relation to the first three points, staff must exercise extreme caution. Physically interventions in any situation is a serious matter. It has implications for the ongoing relationship between teaching staff and the student. Given the nature of the students accessing education services in Five Rivers as identified above, using force to deal with 'disruption' indicates a failure to have properly taken into account the students needs in preparation and planning. All decisions to use physical intervention should follow the Last Resort Principle.

8.1 The Last Resort Principle

- 8.1.1 At Five Rivers we only use physical restraint when there is no realistic alternative. This does not mean that we always expect people to methodically work their way through a series of failing strategies before attempting an intervention in which they have some confidence. Nor does it mean always waiting until the danger is imminent, by which time the prospect of safely managing it may be significantly reduced.
- 8.1.2 Teaching staff must follow the guidance in a student's Individual Behaviour support plan in accordance with the student's individual risk assessment. Where they are presented with new behaviour, not previously seen, they will conduct a risk assessment and choose the safest alternative within the framework of their training. It also means that we expect staff to reflect and think creatively about any alternatives to physical intervention which may be effective.
- 8.1.3 Once a new behaviour has been seen and it has required physical intervention, it must be immediately or as soon as is practicable, be recorded on the student's plan.

8.2 Proactive Approaches

8.2.1 Primary Prevention

8.2.2 Primary prevention is about reducing exposure to known risk factors. This requires adults to have an understanding of a student's needs and how these are likely to impact on their ability to function (i.e. understanding any speech and language or sensory processing issues, past trauma, mental health etc.). Within an education setting, it is essential that teachers take these factors into account not only when planning lessons, but also in planning the classroom environment. Staff must utilise strategies taught in their Proactive Approaches training and set out in the student's plan.

8.3.1 Secondary Prevention

8.3.2 Secondary Prevention strategies are how to respond to early warning signs that challenging behaviours are imminent. Staff must follow the student's plan.

8.4 Proactive Physical Interventions

- 8.4.1 It is sometimes reasonable to use physical controls to prevent extreme behaviour from becoming dangerous provided that it is an agreed part of the behaviour Support Plan. Examples of this are where a student has shown ritual patterns of behaviour, which in the past have led to them becoming more distressed and violent.
- 8.4.2 In such circumstances it may be reasonable to withdraw the student to a safer place when the pattern of behaviour begins, rather than wait until they are too distressed and out of control. The paramount consideration is that the action is taken in the interest of the student and that it reduces, rather than increases, risk. Any such intervention needs to be agreed for short time periods and agreed by the clinical team.

8.5 Reasonable and Proportionate

- 8.5.1 Any responses to behaviour should be planned, reasonable and proportionate to the danger they are intending to prevent.
- 8.5.2 When physical controls are considered, teaching staff should give thought to the following:
 - Is this in the best interest of the student?
 - Is a less intrusive intervention preferable?
 - Do we have to act now?
 - Am I the best person to be doing this?
 - Is this necessary?
- 8.5.3 If teaching staff can answer these questions it is more likely that a physical intervention will be judged to be reasonable and proportionate.

8.6 Unreasonable use of Force

8.6.1 It is not reasonable to use force simply to enforce compliance in circumstances where there is no risk (see points above regarding managing 'disruption'). Nor is it reasonable to use any more force than

is necessary to achieve a reduction in risk. Under no circumstances should pain be deliberately inflicted, or should students be deliberately subjected to undignified or humiliating treatment.

8.6.2 Other than as a one-off emergency measure to protect health and safety and until appropriate support to contain the situation arrives, force should never be used to keep a student secluded (forced to spend time alone against their will). Seclusion is only lawful by specific court order, other than in an emergency and cannot become part of a planned strategy.

8.7 Individual Behaviour Support Plans

- 8.7.1 Risk management is regarded as an integral part of behaviour support planning. All students who have been identified as presenting a risk should have an Individual Behaviour Support Plan. The plan details any strategies which have been found to be effective for that individual, along with any particular responses which are not recommended. If particular physical techniques have been found to be effective, they should be named, along with alerts to any which have proved ineffective or which have caused problems in the past.
- 8.7.2 Behaviour Support Plans should be considered alongside Individual Education plans, the Statement/EHC Plan and any other planning documents which relate to the student. They should take account of age, sex, level of physical, emotional and intellectual development, special need and social context.
 - 8.8 Behaviour Support Plans should result from multi-professional collaboration and be included in the student's individual risk assessments.

8.9 Responding to Unforeseen Emergencies

- 8.9.1 Even the best planning systems cannot cover every eventuality and we recognise that there are unforeseen or emergency situations in which teaching staff have to think on their feet. It is not enough to thoughtlessly apply rules without thinking through the likely consequences.
- 8.9.2 The key principles are that any physical intervention should be:
 - In the best interest of the student
 - Reasonable and proportionate
 - Intended to reduce risk
 - The least intrusive and restrictive of those options available which are likely to be effective.
- 8.9.3 Whenever a physical intervention has to be made, where possible, there should be a clear verbal warning. Where possible, teaching staff should always attempt to use diversion or diffusion in preference to physical interventions.
 - 8.9.4 In all cases the child should be given a clear instruction to stop.
 - 8.9.5 They should only use the techniques and methods approved for use at Five Rivers.

- 8.9.6 Following an incident where an unforeseen or emergency situation has occurred. This must be added to the individual student's Risk Assessment as soon as is practicable.
- 8.9.7 In the absence of any clear guidance on the definition of restraint other than 'reasonable force', Five Rivers education is using The Children's Home (England) 2015 under Regulation 2 (1) defines restraint as follows

"restraint" means using force or restricting liberty of movement.

8.9.8 The DfE guide to the quality standards states that:

'Restraint includes physical restraint techniques that involve using force. Restraint also includes restricting a child's liberty of movement. This includes, for example, changes to the physical environment of the home (such as using high door handles) and removal of physical aids (such as turning off a child's electric wheelchair). Restrictions such as these, and all other restrictions of liberty of movement, should be recorded as restraint. Some children, perhaps due to impairment or disability, may not offer any resistance, but such measures should still constitute a restraint.'

- 8.9.9 Teaching Staff are charged with a duty to protect students by taking all reasonable steps to prevent them from harming themselves, others, or from damaging property.
- 8.9.10 Teaching staff must not use any intentional application of physical force upon students as a punishment or to force compliance with instructions. Where staff have reasonable cause to believe it is necessary to prevent the risk of injury to any person or serious damage to property, staff are permitted to use restrictive physical intervention.
- 8.9.11 In the absence of any clear guidance on the use of 'reasonable force' Five Rivers education is using the the Ofsted Social Care Common Inspection Framework definition of restraint that states:

Restraint is used only in strict accordance with the legislative framework to protect the child or child and those around them. All incidents are reviewed, recorded and monitored and the views of the child or child, dependent on their age and understanding, are sought and understood. Conflict management is effective and includes the appropriate use of restorative practices that improve relationships, increase children's sense of personal responsibility and reduce the need for formal police intervention.

8.9.12 Reducing the Need for Restraint and Restrictive Intervention states:

A decision to restrain a child or child is taken to assure their safety and dignity and that of all concerned, including other children, children or adults present.

- 8.9.13 To ensure consistency across all services. Five Rivers Education agrees that all use of physical interventions must meet the thresholds stated in The Children's Homes (England) Regulations 2015. Regulation 20 Restraint and deprivation of liberty states that:
- 8.9.14 Restraint in relation to a child is only permitted for the purpose of preventing:
 - a. injury to any person (including the child);

- b. serious damage to the property of any person (including the child); or
- c. A child who is accommodated in a secure children's home from absconding from the
- d. Restraint in relation to a child must be necessary and proportionate.
- 8.9.15 These Regulations do not prevent a child from being deprived of liberty where that deprivation is authorised in accordance with a court order.
 - 8.9.16 The +Proactive Approaches 'Code of Ethics' are as follows:
 - Always promote teamwork, consistency and a commitment to developing effective Individual Behaviour Support Plans.
 - Hold a child centred approach which is underpinned by trauma & attachment informed practice.
 - 3. Be passionate about the development of 'Attuned' relationships and always strive to re-attune following incidents.
 - 4. Recognise the inherent responsibilities in your Duty of Care.
 - Don't use 'Restrictive Physical Intervention' if 'Guiding' would work, don't use 'Guiding' if 'Touch' would work, don't use 'Touch' if your 'Presence' would work.
 - Only consider physical intervention as a 'last resort' with a focus on safety and positive outcomes.
 - 7. No use of holds against joints, infliction of pain or use of either prone or supine
 - 8. Always use minimum force for minimum duration.

8.9.17 The principles of +Proactive Approaches are as follows:

- It emphasises proactive strategies and child centred planning whilst working with children that display challenging behaviour.
- Restrictive Physical Intervention (RPI) is a last resort. This is a small part of the comprehensive strategy for supporting and encouraging behaviour.
- 3. Each service takes all possible and reasonable steps to keep people safe and free from harm.
- 4. An overall aim of improving the quality of life for the child
- 5. All restrictive practice interventions use the minimum amount of force and last for the minimum duration possible with the maximum care and attention given.
- 6. All participants and children are treated with compassion, dignity and kindness. People's human rights are upheld at all times.
- The least intrusive intervention will always be used first. Our response will give children an
 opportunity to take ownership over their behaviour and choose a more positive coping strategy
 and behaviour
- 8.9.18 The key principles of +Proactive Approaches are that we emphasis primary and secondary prevention as forms of intervention. All staff are trained in de–escalation strategies, intervention

approaches and active listening skills as ways of managing conflict and episodes of challenging behaviour. Restrictive Physical Intervention (RPI) is only used as part of a wider strategy with a child. There is a clear framework that places RPI as a last resort and only to be used to ensure the safety of the child, safety of others or significant damage to property with the consequence of harm.

- 8.9.19 Every Student has an IBSP (Individual Behaviour Support Plan). The joint consultation document with DfE and DoH November 2017 defines behaviour support plans and their use:
- 8.9.20 Behaviour support plans to describe how the child or child is to be supported, addressing aspects of their environment which they find challenging and support to help them develop strategies to better meet their own needs.
 - 8.9.21 Behaviour support plans will typically detail the responses used by staff when a child starts to become anxious, aroused or distressed and which aim to prevent the situation escalating into a crisis, for example, distraction or diversion. They will also include guidance on how people should react when a child's behaviour further escalates to a point where they place themselves and/or others at significant risk of harm. Plans should be kept under review as the child grows and develops.
 - 8.9.22 Along with this, each IBSP will also include the details of a positive way of working with a student. It highlights the student's likes, dislikes, potential triggers and behaviour support strategies to use with each student. Students are involved in creating this plan and agree to the behaviour targets as a way of encouraging positive behaviour. IBSP's are regularly reviewed and updated.
 - 8.9.23 Where students are placed in an emergency an IBSP must be created as soon as is practicable. This will need to be reviewed daily to ensure that any new information is updated as information becomes available or behaviours or strategies used are assessed as successful.
- 8.9.24 Each member of staff receives this training within their probationary period and are assessed as being competent through this training programme. Each member of staff then attends a refresher course every 12 month to refresh knowledge, practice key skills and to maintain their certification. There are, additional training in staff meetings and twilight sessions.

8.10 Planned and Unplanned Interventions

- 8.10.1 Planned interventions are interventions where teaching staff follow the guidance in each students IBSP. Action to restrain a student will be based on a careful risk assessment, including an understanding of their needs and evidence about the risks faced.
- 8.10.2 Where a student presents new behaviours, not previously seen or in cases where the students are placed in an emergency and little or no information is available in advance, it may be necessary to provide support without planning. In these instances, the unplanned intervention require professional judgement to be exercise in line with the values and attitudes of the organisation and with this policy
- 8.10.3 It is recognised that these judgements are made in difficult situations often requiring split-second decisions in response to unforeseen events or incidents where not all teaching staff are trained. Such decisions, known as dynamic risk assessments, will include a judgement about the capacity of the student at that moment to make a safe choice. Staff training and supervision of practice should support dynamic risk assessment. Unless the situation is urgent, staff should seek assistance from appropriately trained staff. If such assistance is not available, any response must

Commented [3]: This could probably be removed... guessing school don't take emergency placements

Commented [4]: Delete as appropriate

be reasonable, proportionate and use the minimum force necessary in order to prevent injury and maintain safety and in line with the values and attitudes of the organisation and with this policy.

- 8.10.4 Once a new behaviour has been identified it must be added to the IBSP as soon as is practicable.
- 8.10.5 It is not possible to set out here the circumstances which warrant physical intervention because situations change by the minute and may demand different responses. However, all use of restraint must be proportionate, and no more force than necessary should be used. This will be the minimum amount of force necessary to avert injury or serious damage to property applied for the shortest possible time.
- 8.10.6 If, for example, a student is kicking a door, it may not automatically be a cause for physical intervention. If, on the other hand, it is a serious effort to gain entry to attack another person, physical intervention could be justifiable if there was nothing else that could be done to prevent the attack.
 - 8.10.7 In all cases, the use of restrictive physical intervention is based upon an assessment of risk. This should be achieved with colleagues, but it is accepted that sometimes immediate action may be necessary to avert injury or serious damage to property. Any attempt to physically hold a student carries risks. These include causing serious physical injury, psychological trauma or emotional disturbance. Staff will need to take into account:
 - the age and understanding of the student; the size of the student;
 - the relevance of any disability, health problem or medication to the behaviour in question and the action which might be taken as a result;
 - the relative risks of not intervening;
 - the students previously sought views on strategies that they considered might deescalate or calm a situation;
 - the method of restraint which would be appropriate in the specific circumstances;
 - the impact of the restraint on the carer's future relationship with the student

8.10.8 It must be possible to demonstrate that, unless immediate physical intervention is taken, there are strong indicators that injury or damage to property would follow. In deciding whether to use physical intervention, staff should ask themselves the following questions:

8.10.9 Is it necessary to act immediately to prevent a child from injuring themselves, others or from seriously damaging property (with a consequence of harm)?

8.10.10 If "yes":

(a) Have all other non-physical methods of persuasion or control been tried and have failed?

Or:

(b) Do you honestly, reasonably and instinctively believe other non-physical methods would not work in the circumstances.

If the answer to (a) and (b) is "yes", it may be reasonable to use physical intervention.

8.11 Monitoring of the student following the use of restrictive physical intervention

- 8.11.1 The student's Individual Behaviour Support Plan must address how they will be supported, and their safety and welfare monitored, following a physical intervention, in the aftermath of the immediate de-escalation process, for example, through further discussion about their feelings, distraction with an activity, some quiet time on their own, or a phone call to a family member or care staff where appropriate.
- 8.11.2 Whatever a student's outward demeanour following a physical intervention, the experience will have been emotive in some way and, although appearing outwardly calm, they may be continuing to experience a range of feelings such as shame, anger, rejection, loss or hopelessness.
 - 8.11.3 For a student at risk of self-harm the period following a physical intervention may be a particularly vulnerable one. The Royal College of Psychiatrists has identified that an argument with a parent or close friend is the most common trigger for a child to commit an act of self-harm. For some of our students, whose primary relationships may be with residential care staff or key teachers, the experience of being held by these staff might also trigger an incident of self-harm.
- 8.11.4 Particular consideration should be given to how a student will be supported following an incident of physical intervention during the evening. In this case communication between the home and school is essential so that the student may not be left alone in their room, unmonitored until the following morning. In these circumstances regular visual checks must be made throughout the night over and above those made in the immediate aftermath of the intervention. If this is the case, it is essential to be guided by the home to ensure this is resolved with them the following day in school
 - 8.11.5 Staff with consultation with on-call will undertake an assessment of the risk of the likelihood of self-harm and agree at what frequency checks of the child will be undertaken. These checks must be recorded on the Restrictive Physical Intervention Log entry.
 - 8.11.6 If ongoing monitoring would lead to a re-escalation of the student's behaviour, it may not be appropriate to make visual checks throughout the night. In these circumstances, the decision should where possible be agreed with their social worker in advance as part of obtaining agreement to the Individual Behaviour Support Plan; and should always be recorded and subject to review

9. Restriction of Liberty and Deprivation of Liberty

- 9.1 With students aged 16+ The deprivation of liberty can only be authorised in accordance with a court order.
- 9.2 The deprivation of liberty may occur where a student is both under continuous supervision and control and is not free to leave the school. Schools cannot routinely deprive a child of their liberty without a court order, such as a section 25 order to place a child in a licensed secure children's home, or, in the case of children aged over 16 who lack mental capacity, a deprivation of liberty may be authorised by the Court of Protection following an application under the Mental Capacity Act 2005.

Commented [5]: This could be deleted

Commented [6]: Delete?

- 9.3 It may be necessary to prevent a student from leaving the school site where there is clear evidence they are likely to be placing themselves at risk of significant harm (I.e. in the case of a student who has a history of involvement in county lines, who are at risk of criminal exploitation or sexual exploitation.
- 9.4 The use of restraint in the circumstances described above must not become an institutional practice and if any student continues to put themselves at risk by leaving the school without permission, then a meeting must be held with the placing authority and all other relevant agencies to review the placement to ensure that it continues to meet the student's needs.
- 9.5 The use of locked gates as part of security fences, locking of external doors for the purpose of protecting the students from external threats, or doors to hazardous materials, may be acceptable as a security precaution if applied within the normal routine of the school.

10. Recording

- 10.1 All records of any measure of control, discipline or restraint, hard copy and electronic records must be completed promptly within 24 hours of the event.
- 10.2 As soon as possible the school leader or person authorised by the Leader must have spoken to the member of staff involved about the measure and have checked the record to confirm that it is accurate.
- 10.3 Within 5 days of the use of the measure, School leader or person authorised by the leader must have spoken to the child about the measure and signed off the record to confirm this.
- 10.4 Record of the incident on Physical Intervention Record form / Consequences Record is also held on ClearCare.
- 10.5 Complete the 'Re-attunement' process with the student.
- 10.6 Any student who has been physically held should be given the opportunity express their feelings about their experience of the restrictive physical intervention as soon as is practicable, ideally within 24 hours of the incident, taking the age of the student and the circumstances of the restraint feelings, so a record that the student has talked about their feelings should be made no longer than 5 days after the incident of physical intervention.
- 10.7 students should be encouraged to add their views and comments to the record of physical intervention. Students should be offered the opportunity to access an advocacy support to help them with this. Students must be actively encouraged to read and agree sign the record.
- 10.8 In reviewing the incident, reading the reports and discussing the incident with all those involved the school leader or person delegated the task by the Leader should consider the following:
 - Has anyone sustained any injuries? If so, arrange medical attention.
 - Are the appropriate records complete?
 - Do the staff or students require any immediate support?

Commented [7]: Or five rivers equivalent

- Does the student (or do the staff) wish to make any representation or complaint?
- Are there any other immediate actions which should be taken?
- Are there any Child Protection or Disciplinary matters which require immediate attention?

If so:

- Has the LADO/DOFA been informed?
- Social Worker/ SEN case worker been informed?
- Is it necessary to inform the Police?

10.9 All such decisions/actions must be made in consultation with the Head Teacher or DSL for the school

10.10 All staff involved in or witnessing a restrictive physical intervention must also be fully debriefed. The debrief for both student and staff will be recorded on post crises response forms an uploaded to ClearCare as attachments to the Incident Record.

11. Managers Monitoring

11.1 The Head Teacher or their appointed deputy should ensure that all incidents of control, discipline and restraint are subject to systems of regular scrutiny to ensure that their use is fair and conform to regulatory requirements.

School leaders monitoring should be used to assist in identifying trends and patterns that will assist in improving support available to students, practice in the class or subject lesson and wider policies. This process is especially important in services where student's histories and needs may not be known, or well understood and individual planning is not possible (i.e. in the case of a subject teacher who is unfamiliar with a student)

11.2 Records of restraint must be clear and sufficiently detailed in order to enable the Head Teacher and senior staff to review the use of control, discipline and restraint to identify effective practice and respond promptly where any issues or trends of concern emerge. The review should provide the opportunity for amending practice to ensure it meets the needs of each Student